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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

AT TACOMA
TRACEY McEUEN, CASE NO. C12-5997 RJB
Plaintiff, ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS’
MOTION FOR SUMMARY
V. JUDGMENT

RIVERVIEW BANCORP, INC., a
Washington corpotan; RIVERVIEW
COMMUNITY BANK, a Washington
nonprofit corporation,

Defendants.

This matter comes before the Court on Defatslanotion for summary judgment. Dkf.
67. The Court has considered the pleadingsipport of and in opposition to the motions and
the record herein.
INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
Plaintiff, Tracey McEuen commenced this action against Defendants
Riverview Bancorp, Inc., and ®Rrview Community Bank (Riverew), asserting causes of

action pursuant to Section 806 of the Cogterand Criminal Fraud Accountability Act,
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Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 151K) and Washington aamon law prohibiting
wrongful discharge against public policy. Dkt. 1.

McEuen was hired on February 28, 2011hecan Internal Auditor and Sarbanes-
Oxley Act (SOX) Administrator for DefendaRiverview. Dkt. 68 p. 7. McEuen’s
responsibilities included gendirsg SOX reports, conducting audasthe bank's departments
and branches; documenting work, assisting alweating the adequacy of internal control
systems and compliance with applicable staue federal regulations, identifying findings and
recommendations, and preparing reports. B&tp. 9. McEuen’s employment was terminate

on October 14, 2011. Riverview's justificatiom fbe termination was McEuen'’s violation of

Bank policy prohibiting the use of axternal hard drive at work. Dkt. 83-2 pp. 34-35; Dkt. §
pp 55-56.

McEuen filed a complaint with the Occujmaal Safety and Health Administration
(OSHA) under Section 806 ofdlSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(b)(1). D

p. 3. After waiting the statutory period, McEu@#ad this action, alleging both a claim for
retaliation in violdion of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and aini for wrongful disbarge in violation
of public policy under Washington law. Dkt. 1 pp. 7-9.

Riverview moves for summajudgment on both of McEuentdaims. Riverview argue
that McEuen has failed to make a prima fatieveng that she engaged in protected activity,
that such conduct was a contributing factonén termination from employment. Riverview

further argues that the clear and convincing evig establishes that McEuen would have bg

terminated for violation of bank policy, regardiegsany alleged proteddeactivity. Dkt. 67 p. 2|

McEuen counters with the argument that there exist genuine issues of material fact prohi

the grant of summary judgment. Dkt. 82.
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SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARDS

Summary judgment is approate only when the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, affidavits oregtlarations, stipulations, admissions, answers to interrogatorie
and other materials in the record show that “th&re genuine issue as to any material fact &
the movant is entitled to judgment as a mattdawt” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). In assessing a
motion for summary judgment, theidgnce, together with all infences that can reasonably [
drawn there from, must be resxthe light most favorabl® the party opposing the motion.
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co#g5 U.S. 574, 587 (1986).

The moving party bears the initial burden of informing the court of the basis for its
motion, along with evidence showing the absesfcany genuine issue of material faGelotex
Corp. v. Catrett477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). On those isdoesvhich it beas the burden of
proof, the moving party must make a showing teaufficient for the court to hold that no
reasonable trier of fact could firmdher than for the moving partydema v. Dreamworks, Inc
162 F.Supp.2d 1129, 1141 (C.D. Cal. 2001).

To successfully rebut a motion for summarggment, the non-morg party must point
to facts supported by the redavhich demonstrate a genuine issue of material faeese v.
Jefferson Sch. Dist. No. 14208 F.3d 736 (9th Cir. 2000). A “material fact” is a fact that mi
affect the outcome of thauit under the governing lawAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&t77
U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A dispute redimg a material fact is coitered genuine “if the evidenc
is such that a reasonable jury coultlire a verdict for the nonmoving partyAndersonat 248.
There must be specific, admissible evicerdentifying the basis for the disputs.A. Empresa
de Viacao Aerea Rio Grandense v. Walter Kidde & Co., B80 F.2d 1235, 1238 (9th Cir.

1980). The mere existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of the party's position is
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insufficient to establish a gema dispute; there must b&idence on which a jury could
reasonably find for the partyAndersonat 252.
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act’'s (SOX) whistlelder provision, 18 U.S.G8 1514A, protects

employees of publicly-traded companies from dmsmation in the terms and conditions of thei

employment when they take certain actionssfmort conduct that they reasonably believe
constitutes certain types ofifrd or securities violationslides v. The Boeing G®44 F.3d 809
813 (9th Cir. 2011). 18 U.S.C. 8 151@A provides in relevant part:

No company . . . or any officer, employeentactor, subcontractor, or agent of such
company, may discharge, demote, suspemdatbn, harass or in any other manner
discriminate against an employee in the geand conditions of gpioyment because of
any lawful act done by the employee--(1) to provide information, cause informatiory
provided, or otherwise assistan investigation regding any conduct which the
employee reasonably believes constitutemkation of section 1341[mail fraud], 1343
[wire fraud], 1344 [bank fraud], or 1348 [secledifraud], any rule or regulation of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or amoywision of Federal law relating to fraud
against shareholders, when the inforimator assistance is provided to or the
investigation is conducted by--(C) a person vgitipervisory authority over the employ
(or such other person working for the employo has the authority investigate,
discover, or terminate misconduct) . . . .

The act further provides that person who alleges discba or discrimination by an
person in violation of subsectiqa) may seek relief by filing a complaint with the Secretar

Labor or, if the Secretary fails to issue a decisidthin 180 days of the filing of the compla

and the complainant has not cadiske delay, the person may fée action in the appropriate

United States District CourtSee 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(b)(1). Remedies include *“all r
necessary to make the employee whole.” 18 ©l.8514A(c)(1). This relief may take the fo
of reinstatement at the same level of senioliaick pay with interest, and compensation for
special damages sustained including litigation ca@stgert witness fees and reasonable atto

fees. 18 U.S.C. 81514A(c)(2).
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Section 1514A claims are governed biyuaden-shifting procedure under which the
plaintiff is first required to establish aipra facie case of retaliatory discriminatiohides 644
F.3d at 813-14. To make oupama facie case, the employeeist show that: (1) employee

engaged in protected activity conduct; (2) employer knear suspected, actively or

constructively, of the protectexttivity; (3) employee suffered amfavorable personnel action,

and (4) the circumstances were sufficient toerais inference that the protected activity was
contributing factor irthe unfavorable actionld. at 814;Van Asdale v. Int'l Game Te¢h77
F.3d 989, 996 (9th Cir. 2009); 29 C.F.R. § 1980.1J{a{)-(iv). If the plaintiff meets his
burden of establishing a prima facie caben the employer assumes the burden of
demonstrating by clear and coneing evidence that would have taken the same adverse
employment action in the absencedla# plaintiff's protected activityTides 644 F.3d at 814;
Van Asdale577 F.3d at 996.

A prima facie case does not require thateémployee conclusively demonstrate the
employer's retaliatory motive. Rather, the esgpk need only make a prima facie showing t
protected behavior or condugtis a contributing factor ithhe unfavorable personnel action
alleged in the complaintCoppinger-Martin v. Solis627 F.3d 745, 750 (9th Cir. 2010); 29
C.F.R. § 1980.104(b).

Defendant Riverview argues that McEuen hadsddao raise a genuine issue of fact tha
she was engaged in protected activity andtti@tlleged protected agty was a contributing
factor in McEuen’s termination. Dkt. 67 pp. 15-20.

Protected Activity

The Ninth Circuit has stated that “[tj@rstitute protected activity under Sarbanes—

Oxley, an employee's communications must defielyi and specifically relate to one of the

hat
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listed categories of fraud or securitigslations under 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(a)(1Van Asdale

577 F.3d at 996-97. The employee need not citela section he or shelieves was violated

to trigger the protections of SOXd. at 997. The Ninth Circuit has also stated that “to trigger

the protections of the Act, an employee musb ddave (1) a subjecé\belief that the conduct
being reported violated a listed law, andt(#3 belief must be objectively reasonabléd. at
1000.

McEuen argues that the “definitively and sfieally” standard is nodnger the test. In
Van Asdalghe Ninth Circuit adopted the “definitiveBnd specifically” standd from an earlie
opinion of the Administrative Review Bahpof the Department of Labor (ARB)an Asdaleat
996-97. The ARB has subsequently disavowkd “definitive and specific” evidentia
standard.In the Matter of Kathy J. Sylves et al. v. Parexel In'l LLCARB Case No. 07-12]
2011 WL 2165854 at *13-15 (DOL Axin. Rev. Bd. 2011). Ii®ylvesterthe ARB found tha
the “definitively and specifically” standard “hasadved into an inappropriate test and is of
applied too strictly.” I1d. at 15. “[T]he critical focus i©on whether the employee repor
conduct that he or sheasonably believesonstituted a violation of federal law.1d. The
employee must provide information that he or she “reasonably believed related to ong
violations listed in Section 806, and not whether that information ‘definitively and specif

described one or more of those violationkl”
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The ARB's rejection of the “definitive anspecific’ standard and the adoption of a

“reasonable belief” standard was recogniaad given deference by the Third Circuitifiest v

Lynch 710 F.3d 121, 130-31 (3rdrCR013). The Court ifwViestset forth the test as follows:

[o

establish claim under Sarbanes—Oxley Act's tidbtower protection provision, employee mpst

establish not only subjective, gooditlfiebelief that his or her empyer violated a provision liste

d

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT- 6



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

in SOX, but also that his dmer belief was objectively reasdiia. An employee's belief
objectively reasonable when reasonable persitim same training and experience as emplg
would believe that conduct implicated in gloyee's communication could rise to level
violation of one of SOX's enumerated provisioi.

Regardless of whether the Ninth Citowould adopt the rule enunciatedSiylvesterthe
Court finds that there are genuine issues rofterial fact as to whether McEue
communications definitively and sgifically related to one of the listed categories of frau
securities violations under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 15149f(p whether McEuen had a subjective, g
faith belief that her employer violated prowss listed in SOX, and that her belief W
objectively reasonable. McEuen has preseatedence that she reported on multiple occas
to several members of Riverview's managaméhat her supervis, Don Sasaki, w3g
committing fraud. See Dkt. 83-1 p. 29-30, 3®- 62, 66-68. This deposition testimony
McEuen raises issues of fact as to whethesalSaaltered McEuen’sudit reports to lessen tf
severity of the audit findings—wtih could mislead the Board asRoverview’s actual risks, ar
materially affect Riverview’s financial statememtsd deceive investors. McEuen reported
Sasaki was contaminating audiiproperly placing adit findings on “verbal lists,” blockin
McEuen’s update of Defendants’ SOX programgl falsifying annual risk assessments and §
attestations. McEuen has also presented ew@ddrat she reported teer superiors concernir
the unlawful and fraudulent conduct of Kristalldad, VP of Human Resources. Dkt. 83-1
29-30, 68.

The truth of these allegations cannot beedrined on summary judgment. McEuen
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established a genuine disputenadterial fact as to whethertheommunications related to bank

fraud. SedJnited States v. Rizl660 F.3d 1125, 1135 (9th Cir. 2Q({setting forth elements
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bank fraud). McEuen also raises a genuissue of material fact demonstrating
reasonableness of her belief’'s that Kaseas committing fraud. Dkt. 83-7 pp. 6-8.
Contributing Factor
A complainant can prove her protectedtiaty contributed to her firing with
circumstantial evidence, such as the empfsy&nowledge that theplaintiff engaged i
protected activities and the proximity in tinbetween the protected teon and the allegedl
retaliatory employment decisionYartzoff v. Thomas809 F.2d 1371, 1376 (9th Cir. 198

When adverse employment decisions are rtalkethin a reasonableeriod of time afte

complaints of discrimination have beendearetaliatory intent may be inferre@assantino \.

Johnson & Johnson Consumer Products,, |82 F.3d 493, 507 (9th Cir. 2000). The close

in time between particular events strdrggts the inference of a causal linkartzoff 809 F.2d at

1376. McEuen has presented evidence that lesstito months after pgrting her concerns,

October 2011, she was terminated from heitjpos Dkt. 83-1 pp. 55-56. McEuen has 3
presented evidence that deficiencies in heroperdnce were not noted urafter she reporte
the fraudulent conduct of her supervisor, Dosdka Dkt. 71 pp. 8-9. McEuen’s dismis
occurred less than one morafter she reported Holland’s alletjg fraudulent HR activities t
Riverview’s managers and officer®kt. 83-1 p. 30, 68. McEuen has also raised an issue
that Riverview’s stated reasons for her terminati@ne a pretext. McEuen testifies that she
granted permission by Sasaki atie IT personnel to use hertesnal hard drive and oth
employees understood that she had permissionetat uis the performance of her duties. [

83-1 pp. 51-52, 78; Dkt. 83-5 pp. 6-8.
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On the current record a fact finder could reasonably determine that the 4§
Riverview policy for termination was simply a pretext for unlawful retaliation for McEU
reporting bank fraud.

Plaintiff has raised genuine issuedaxt precluding summary judgment.

WRONGFUL DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY
The tort of wrongful discharge provides a sawf action “when an employer discharg
an employee for reasons that contravaméear mandate @ublic policy.” Korslund v.
DynCorp Tri—Cities Servs., Incl56 Wn.2d 168, 178 (2005). Theian has generally arisen i
the following four situations:
(1) where employees are fired for refugito commit an illegal act; (2) where
employees are fired for performing a publi¢ydar obligation, suclas serving jury
duty; (3) where employees are fired for ex&irg) a legal right or privilege, such as
filing workers' compensation claims; and here employees are fired in retaliatiq
for reporting employer misnduct, i.e., whistleblowing.

Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Ind.28 Wn.2d 931, 936 (1996).

To prevail on a claim of wrongful dischargevimlation of public péicy, a plaintiff must
establish: (1) the existence of a clear public gdlibe clarity element)2) that discouraging th
conduct would jeopardize the pubfiolicy (the jeopardy elemen@nd (3) that this conduct
caused the discharge (the causation element), drileirst three elements are met—that th
defendant is not able to offer amerriding justification for the dismissal (absence of justifica
element).Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Servs., Ind65 Wn.2d 200, 207 (2008riggs v. Nova
Servs, 166 Wn.2d 794, 802 (200Hubbard v. Spokane Counti46 Wn.2d 699, 707 (2002).

As noted inGardner v. Loomis Armored, Ind.28 Wn.2d 931, 936 (1996), it is in

contravention of public policy to dismiss empd®g for refusing to commit an illegal act. See¢
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alsoDanny v. Laidlaw Transit Services, In@¢65 Wn2d. 2d 200, 208 (2008)ns v. Children's
Discovery Centers of America, In@5 Wn.App. 486 (1999).

McEuen has provided deposition testimony thatriused to participate in conduct th
could rise to the level of bank fraud. D&B-1 pp. 29-30, 69-70. As discussed previously,
Riverview’s justification is subject to evidencglicating that it was a pretext for retaliatory
employment action.

There are genuine issuesnahterial fact precluding summgaudgment on the state law
cause of action for discharge in violation of public policy.

PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO STRIKE

Plaintiff's motion to strikas denied. The declaratioasd exhibits are admissible
evidence.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, it is herebDRDERED:

Defendants’ Motion for Summadudgment (Dkt. 67) iDENIED.

Dated this 18 day of December, 2013.

fo by

ROBERTJ.BRYAN
United States District Judge
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